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INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3! DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present the strategic report of Infineum International Limited (the “Company™) for the
vear ended 31 December 2022,

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Campany ic to act as a service company for the worldwide organisation of
the Infineum group of companies. The Company incurs ¢costs and recharges them to affiliate companies.

The Company is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated in England, United Kingdom.
The address of its registered office is Corporate Centre PO Box 1, Milton Hill, Abingdon, Oxfordshire,
0X13 6BB.

Review of the business

The Company made a profit of £10,446,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
£1,840,000). The Company has net current assets of £10,112,000 (2021: £8,401,000).

The Directors are satisfied with the performance of the Company for the year and expect it to continue
to trade profitably for the foreseeable future.

Key performance indicators {KPIs)

The Directors believe that due to the straightforward nature of the business, the Company does not
require any key performance indicators.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The straightforward nature of the Company, acting as a service company incurring costs and recharging
them to affiliate companies, means the Company’s principal risks and uncertainties are associated with
financial risk and are discussed in the Directors” report.



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPQRT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (continued)

Section 172(1) statement

During the 2022 financial year the Directors have acted, and they continue to act, in good faith to ensure
the success of the Company for the benefit of its sharcholder, and for the benefit of the Company’s
stakeholders.

Given the nature of the Company’s activities, it does not have a wide range of stakeholders, however
those it has, include:

»  Suppliers
The Company relies on its suppliers to provide quality services in order to maintain the highest
standards of operation, and reliability in meeting the needs of its customers. The Company is committed
to having professional and ethical relationships with its suppliers and the Company clearly articulates
its stance on anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and modern slavery with all of its suppliers, and requires that
the highest standards of ethics are met.
The Company has a fair process with respect to tendering of contracts and engaging with new suppliers.
s Customers
The Company's customers are other members of the Infineum group. The Company maintains a
professional and ethical relationship with all such customers, and is clear on its stance against
corruption, bribery and modern slavery. This same stance is adopted by all Infineum group companies.
The Directors of the Company understand, and they take into account in conducting the business of the
Company, the need to act fairly and consider the impact of any decision-making, long or short term, on

the Company’s stakeholders.

Employees have not been included as stakeholders as the Company does not have any.

On behalf of the Board

Z: ohn Atanas
Director

INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Registered number: 03623664

Date: 25 July 2023



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS” REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The Directors present their report and audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022.

Directors

The Directors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of signing the
financial statements, unless otherwise stated below, are as follows:

Johann Maria Alexander Farina
Juhan Robberts

Frederik Donkers

Z. John Atanas

Rahim Oberholtzer

Lin Clien

Future developments

The Company continues to review its range of activities generally with a view to improving efficiency
in its business. There were no significant investments made during 2022.

Dividends

In December 2022, the Company declared and paid to its shareholder a dividend of £8,741,000
(2021:£nil).

The Directors recommend that the profit from the year ended 31 December 2022 will be transferred to
reserves.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (SECR)

The Company can confirm it is classed as a low energy user. The statutory minimum for reporting is
40MWh for the reporting year and therefore the Company is exempt.

Financial risk management

The Company is exposed to financial risks from a variety of factors that include price risk, liquidity
risk, cash flow risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk. The board is confident that the exposure to
cach of these risks is properly managed to limit the possible adverse impact on the financial performance
of the Company.

The Directors consider the financial risks that face the Company to be as follows:

Price risk
The Company has little exposure to price risk since it receives a fixed mark-up on costs under
agreements with affiliated companies.

Liguidity risk

The Company actively manages its finances to ensure that it has sufficient available funds for its
operations. The Company has a structure in place to monitor the best financing structure for the
Company and periodically reviews its strategies. The Company has adequate liquidity through a loan
and deposit agreement with its parents.



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS” REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (continued)

Cash flow risk
The Company’s cash flow risk is minimised by the structure of its operations in that it receives a fixed
mark-up on its costs and has adequate liquidity to support its working capital needs.

Credit risk
The Company considers its credit risk to be very low since it only provides services to other affiliates
of the Infineum group.

Foreign exchange risk

The Company operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange nisk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar and the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities. The management of foreign
exchange risk is managed on a wider group basis at corporate level.

These risks and management practices are consistent with those in the previous year.

Research and Development

During the year, the Company incurred costs on rescarch and development recharged from affiliates
which are then recharged by the Company on the basis of additives research agreements to other affiliate
companies.

Directors’ Indemnities

During the financial year and up to the date of approval of the Directors’ report the Company did net
have in place any qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company.

Business Relationships

Customers

We recognise that success depends on our ability to consistently satisfy ever-changing customer
preferences. We commit to be innovative and responsive, while offering high-quality products and
services. We seek to cultivate an open dialogue with our customers.

Suppliers

We understand that our business success reflects on how well we manage those who work on our behalf.
The Company is supported by a global procurement organisation, which assists the company with its
procurement strategy and its engagement with suppliers. We also engage with our suppliers on various
topics including operation integrity and safety.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulation.

Company Jaw requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”, and applicable law).



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

DIRECTORS® REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 (continued)

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

e seclect suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

e state whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;

e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

s prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible tor safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006..

Directors’ confirmations
In the case of each director in office at the date the directors’ report is approved:

s 5o far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s
auditors are unaware; and

e they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make

themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors
are aware of that information.

On behalf of the Board

7. John Atanas
Director

INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
Registered number: 03623664

Date: 25 July 2023



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

Independent auditors’ report to the
members of Infineum International
Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion, Infingum Intemational Limited's financ:al statements:

« give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affarrs as at 31 December 2022 and of its profit for the year
then ended;

« have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard apphcable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland™. and applicable law) and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, inctuded within the Annuai Report, which comprise: the Statement of Financial
Position as at 31 December 2022; the Prafit and Loss Account and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then
ended: and the notes to the financial statements, which inctude a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs {(UK)") and appiicable faw.
Our responsibilties under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibitites for the audit of the financial
statements section of our repert We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
pravide a basis for our opinion

independence

We remained independent of the company in accordance with the ethical regquirements that are relevant fo cur audit of
the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfiled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating te going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not idgentfied any material uncertamties relating to events or conditicns
that. individuaily or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concem for a
pericd of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the direclors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial staterments is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or condilions can be predicted. this conclusion is notl a guarantee as to the
company’s ability to continue as a gaing concern.

Cur responsibilites and the responsibllities of the direclors with respect to going concem are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors' report thereon, The directors are responsible for the other information Our opimon on the financial statements



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMILED

does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or. excep! 1o the extent
olherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements. our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so.
censider whether the other information i1s matenally inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed. we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to repor that fact. We have nothing to
report based on these responsibilities,

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the
UK Companies Act 2006 have been included

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 reguires us also to report certain
apinions and matlers as described below.

Strategic report and Directors’ Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategsc report and
Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistant with the financial stalements and has been prepared
in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In hght of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment oblained in the course of the audit. we
did not identify any malerial misstaternents in the Strategic report and Directors’ Report,

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the the Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the financial statements, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable frarmework and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair vigw. The directors are also responsible for such internal contral as they
delermine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ablility to continue as a
going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or 10 cease operations, or have no realistic aternative but to
do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Qur objeclives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatemen!, whether due to fraud or emor, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
tSAs (UK) will always delect a material misstatermnent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individuaily or in the aggregate. they could reasonably be expected 1o influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud. are instances of non-compliance with laws and regutations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above. to detect material misstatements in respect of rregulantes, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting regularities, inchuding fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the company and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with
laws and regulations related to the requrements of UK tax law, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance
might have a material effect on the financial staternents. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct
impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management’s incentives and
opporiunties for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of overnde of controls}, and



determined that the principal risks were relaled to posting inappropriate journal entres. Audit procedures performed by
the engagement tearn inciuded:

« enquiries of management including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations and fraud;

« reviewing relevant meeting minutes, ncluding those ot the Board; and

» identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries with unusuai acccunt combinations posted to
reveriue, post-close joumnal entries or journals posled by unexpected users, where any such journals were identified.

There are nherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances
of non-compliance with laws and regutations that are not closely refated to events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not
tetecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentionas
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsinilites for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's websile at.
www fre org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this repon

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions. accept
or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands
it may come save where exprgssly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Acl 2006 we are required to repart to you if, in our opinion:

= we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches nat visited by us, or

» certain disciosures of directors’ remuneration specified by taw are not made: or

= the financial statements are nat in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions 10 report arising frem this responsibility.

Jason Clarke (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Cardiff

25 Juiy 2023



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCQOUNT - for the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note £'000 £000

Turnover 2 251,889 230,235
Cost of sales (230,166) (228,224)
Gross profit 1,723 2,011
Operating profit 3 1,723 2,011
Income from shares in group undertakings 8,741 -
Profit before interest and taxation 10,464 2011
Interest receivable and similar income 55 -
Profit before taxation 10,519 2.011
Tax on profit 4 (73} (171)
Profit for the financial year 10,446 1,840

There were no recognised gains and losses other than the profit for the current and previous years, and
accordingly a statement of other comprehensive income is not presented.



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION — as at 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note £'000 £000
Fixed Assets
Investments 7 64,775 64,775
Debtors: amounts falling due afier one year 9 4 10
Current Assets
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 8 28,792 32,479
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 11 (18,680) (24,078)
Net Current Assets 10,112 8.401
Total Assets less Current Liabilities 74,891 73,186
Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital 12 * *
Share premium account 44775 44775
Retained eamings 30,116 28411
Total Eguity 74,891 73,186

*Amount less than £1.000
The notes on pages 12 to 23 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 9 to 15 were authorised by the Board of Directors on 25 July 2023
were signed on its behalf by:

e

Z,/ﬂ)hn Atanas
Director

10



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY - for the year ended 31 December 2022

Balance as at 1 January
2022

Profit for the financial
year

Total comprehensive
income for the year

Dividend

Balance as at 31
December 2022

Balance as at 1 January
2021

Profit for the financial year

Total comprehensive
income for the year

Dividend

Balance as at 31
December 2021

Share
Premium Retained
Not Account Earnings Total Equity
ote £'000 £'000 £'000
44,775 28411 73,186
R 10,446 10,446
- 10,446 10,446
12 - (8,741) (8,741)
44,775 30,116 74,891
Share
Premium Retained Total
Account Earnings Equity
£'000 £'000 £'000
44,775 26,571 71,346
R 1,840 1,840
- 1,840 1,840
12 - - R
44,775 28,411 73,186

11



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, **The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland™ (**FRS 102’} and the
Companies Act 2006.

The Company is a private company limited by shares and is incorporated in England, United Kingdom.
The address of its registered office is Corporate Centre PO Box 1, Milton Hill, Abingdon, Oxfordshire,
0X13 6BB.

L. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The Directors have assessed that the Company is able to operate on a going concern basis this is based
on the strength of the Company’s financial position, notably it's net assets, which should allow the
company to meet its lHabilities over the next 12 months from the reporting date. As such. these financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention.

The financial statements contain information about the Company as an individual company and do not
contain consolidated financial information as the parent of a group. The Company is exempted under
section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial
statements as it and its subsidiary undertakings are included by full consolidation in the consolidated
financial statements of its ultimate parent, Infineum Holdings B.V. The immediate parent of the
Company is Infineum Netherlands B.V.

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
Tequires managenient to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting
policies.

(b) Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102
The Company has taken advantage of the following exceptions under FRS 102 on the basis that it is a
wholly owned subsidiary of a group headed by Infineum Holdings B.V. whose financial statements are
publicly available;
e from preparing a statement of cash tlows, on the basis that it is a qualifying entity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows includes the Company’s cash flows (Section 7 of FRS 102

3.17(d):

* from preparing a reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and end
of the period {(FRS 102 4.12(a)(iv));

12



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the vear ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(b} Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS 102 (continued)
e from the financial instriment disclosures, required wnder FRS 102 section 11 paragraphs
11.41(b), (c), (&), (D), 11.42, 11.44, 11.45, 11.47, 11.48(a)(iii), 11.48(a)(iv), 11.48(b), 11.48(c)
and section 12 paragraphs 12.26, 12.27, 12.29(a}, 12.29(b) and 12.29A as the information is

provided in the consolidated financial statement disclosures;

¢ from disclosing the Company key management personnel compensation, as required by FRS
102 paragraph 33.7; and,

+ from the exemption under paragraph 33.1A from the provisions of Financial Reporting
Standard 102 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, on the grounds that it is a wholly owned subsidiary
of a group headed by Infineum Holdings B.V. whose financial statements are publicty available.

(c) Foreign currency
{1) Functional and presentation currency
The Company’s financial statements are presented in pound sterling and rounded to thousands.
The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the pound sterling.

(i1) Transactions and balances

Income and expense items denominated in foreign currencics are translated into pound sterling at
the rate ruling on their transaction date.

Monetary assets and liabilities recorded in foreign currencies have been translated into Pound
Sterling at the rates of exchange ruling on 31 December 2022, Differences on translation are included
in the profit and loss account in the period in which they arise. Non-monetary items have been
translated at the rate ruling on the 31 December 2022.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the Statement of Profit and Loss within
‘Operating profit”.

(d) Revenue recognition
(i) Turnover
Turnover primarily represents amounts received or receivable (excluding value added tax) for sales
of services supplied during the year to the Infineum group companies, relating to costs either
incurred directly by the Company or recharged to it by other Infineumn group of companies. Turnover
is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered when the related costs have
been either directly incurred by the Company or received as a recharge from other Infineum group
companies.

(i1) Income from shares in group undertakings

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.



INFINEUM INTERNATIONATL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - [or the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii} Other interast recetvable and similar income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method.
(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts, when applicable, are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

(f) Investment in subsidiary

Investment in subsidiary company is held at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

(g) Financial instruments
The Company has chosen to adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.
(1) Financial assets

Basic financial assets, including trade and other receivables amounts owed by group undertakings,
related parties, and other debtors, cash and bank balances, are initially recognised at transaction
price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction is measured
at the present value of the future payments discounted at a market rate of interest.

Such assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. At the end
of the reporting period, financial assets are measured at amortised cost and are assessed for objective
evidence of impairment. If an asset is impaired, the impairment loss is the difference between the
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Other financial assets, including financial asset in equity investment which are not subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures, are initially measured at fair value, which is normally the transaction
price.

Such assets are subsequently carried at fair value and the changes in fair value are recognised in
profit or loss, except that investments in equity instruments that are not publicly traded and whose
fair values cannot be measured reliably are measured at cost less impairment.

Financial assets are derecognised when (a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire or are settled; or (b) substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the asset are
transferred to another party; or (c) despite having retained some significant risks and rewards of
ownetship, control of the asset has been transferred to another party who has the practical ability to
unilaterally sell the asset to an unrelated third party without imposing additional restrictions.

14



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
(g) Financial instruments (continued)
(i1} Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and loans from fellow Intineum group
companies amount owed to group undertakings and related parties, are initially recognised at
transaction price, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the debt
instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of
mterest.

Financial [iabilities are derecognised when the liability is extinguished, that is when the contractual
obligation is discharged. cancelled or expires.

(iii) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements
when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(h) Taxation

Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period.
Tax is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or directly in Equity. In this case tax would also be
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income or directly in Equity respectively.

Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.
(1) Current tax

Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior
vears. Tax is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the period end.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(ii} Deferred tax

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income as stated in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from the
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they
are recognised in financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date. Unrelieved tax losses and

other deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered against
the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

15



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the vear ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the period end and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the iming difference.

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

(i) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(k) Dividends

Dividends payable are recognised on the date on which the resolution declaring them is passed. These
amounts are recognised in the statement of changes in equity.

(1) Significant Judgements

In preparing the financial statements, no significant judgements have been made in applying the
Company’s accounting policies.

{m) Estimates

In applying the Company’s accounting policies described above, the key sources of estimation
uncertainty that carry risk of material adjustment to the carrying value of assets or liabilities in the
preparation of these financial statements include:

Recoverable amount of investments in subsidiaries should an impairment be indicated The details of
the assumptions used are set out in the accounting policies and the notes to the financial statements.

2. Turnover

Turnover is related to the principal activity of the Company as a service company for the worldwide
organisation of the Infineum Group of companies. Turnover originates in the UK.

Geographical markets by destination 2022 2021
£°000 £7000

Europe 116,164 119,640
Africa, Middle East and Asia 67,684 67,813
Americas 68,041 42,782
251,889 230,235

16



INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOLES 10 1HE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2022 {continued)

3. Operating profit

The operating profit is stated after (crediting) / charging the following:

2022

£'000

{Gain)/Loss on currency translation on trading activities (517)
Services provided by the Company’s auditors:

Audit services 2

Non-Audit Services 30

2021
£000

184

23
23

The audit services costs are borne by Infineum UK Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company and are not

recharged to the Company.

4. Tax on profit

The tax charge/{credit) is made up as follows:

2021
£'000

167

2022
£'000
Current tax:
United Kingdom corporation tax charge/(credit) on
profits of the year 67
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of timing differences 6
Tax charge on profit 73

171

The tax assessed for 2022 is lower than (2021: lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the
United Kingdom for the year ended 31 December 2022 of 19% (2021: 19%). The differences are

explained as follows:
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INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

2022 2021
£'000 £000
Profit before tax 10.519 201
Profit before tax multiplied by the standard rate in the
United Kingdom 19% (2021: 19%) 1,999 382
Effect of:
Dividend adjustment (1,662) -
Transfer price adjustment (263) (209)
Capital allowances (5 (6)
Total deferred tax - 6 4
Tax charge/(credit) for the vear 73 171

In the 2021 Budget, it was announced that the UK Corporation Tax main rate will increase from 19%
to 25% from | April 2023 on profits over £250,000. The rate for small profits under £50,000 will remain
at 19% and there will be relief for businesses with profits under £250.000. Finance Act 2021 was
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021 including the rate change to 25% from I April 2023, As this rate
change had been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, a rate of tax of 25% has been reflected
in the deferred tax workings where applicable.

5. Employees and Directors

The monthly average number of persons, excluding Directors employed by the Company, in 2022 was
zero (2021: zero). During the year, the Company benefited from the seconded services of an average of
15 employees {2021: 17) who were employed by Infineum UK Ltd. All persons were employed in the
United Kingdem and were principally involved in the chemical additives business.

2022 2021
£°000 £7000

Staff costs:
Wages and salaries 3,793 4,156
Social security costs 544 543
Other pension costs ) 453 574
4,790 5,273

Staff costs {all seconded staff) were charged from Infineum UK Ltd. and include associated pension
COosts.

6. Directors’ emoluments

There was no remuneration paid to Directors in respect of their services as Directors to the Company

(2021 NIL). Directors are not employed by the Company, nor are they included in the number of
seconded employees.
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INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

7. Investments
(a) Investment in subsidiary

Infineurn UK Ltd. is wholly owned by the Company. Infineum UK Ltd. is a private company limited
by shares and is incorporated in England, United Kingdom. The address of its registered office is
Corporate Centre PO Box 1, Milton Hill, Abingdon, Oxfordshire, OX13 6BB.

Shares in group undertakings:

£000
Cost and net book value:
At | January and 31 December 2022 64,775

Infineum UK Ltd. share capital is made up of 19,000,000 ordinary shares and 30,611,111 class A shares
of £0.50 each.

2022 2021
£000 £000

Allotted and fully paid
19,000,000 (2021: 19,000,000) ordinary shares of £0.50 each 9,500 9,500
30,611,111 (2021: 30.611,111) class A shares of £0.50 each 15,306 15,306
24,806 24,806

The Directors believe that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their underlying trade
and net assets.

Infineurn UK Ltd.’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 was £10,308,000 (2021: £9.,934,000)
and its accumulated profit and loss account reserve at 31 December 2022 was £51,983,000 (2021:
£47,251,000).

(a) Financial asset in equity investment

Direct Proportion of Share Capital
Participations Domicile issued capital held £000 No of shares

Infineum India
Additives Pvt Litd. Mumbai, India 0.03% * 1,000

*Amount lcss than £1.,000

Infineumn India Additives Pvt Ltd. was established and registered in November 2016. The registered
address of the Company is Unit No. C-806. One BKC. Plot No. C-66, Bandra Kurla Complex. Bandra
(East), Mumbai — 400 051, India.

This Company provides business support in the region, and until the second half of 2022 did not have
sales responsibilities. During the second half of year 2022, it expanded its business activities to include
distribution and trading of lubricants and fuel products. There have been no changes to the proportion
of share capital or number of shares in the year 2022.
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INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 Decermber 2022 (continued)

8. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

The items below are all recoverable within one year.

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Amounts owed by group undertakings 10,626 6,635
Amounts owed by related parties 17,304 20,187
Other debtors 862 5,637
28,792 32,479

The amounts owed by group undertakings includes a balance of £7,551,151 (2021: £4,788,778)
which relates to a deposit with Infineum Netherlands B.V. which is payable on demand. This balance
is unsecured and interest bearing and during 2022 the rate of interest has been LIBOR/EURIBOR + a
range of 1.90% to 0.59%. All other amounts owed by group undertakings and related parties are
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Related parties are Infineum Singapore LLP,
Infineum USA L.P., Infineum (China) Co. Ltd., Infineum France SNC, Deutsche Infineum GmbH &
Co. KG and Infineum Italia s.r.]l. which are not owned by Infineum Holdings B.V_, (the Company’s
ultimate holding company), and subsidiaries of Shell plc and Exxon Mobil Corporation, and Saudi
Arabia Lube Additives Co. Ltd. (Salaco).

9. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Other debtors includes a Deferred tax asset which will be recoverable in more than one year.

2022 2021

£°000 £7000

Deferred taxation (Note 10) 4 10
4 10
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INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

10. Deferred taxation

The deferred tax asset recognised is as follows:

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Accelerated capital allowances 4 10

The movement in the deferred tax asset during the year was:

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Balance brought forward 10 14
Profit and loss account movement arising during the

year (Note 4) o (6) 4)

Balance carried forward 4 10

The amount set aside for deferred taxation represents the timing differences between the recognition of
items in the profit and loss account for accounting and tax purposes for the years up to and including
2022 There are no unused tax losses or unused tax credits.

The net deferred tax asset expected to reverse in 2023 is £nil.

11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one yvear

2022 2021

£000 £000

Amount owed to group undertakings 15,550 14,560
Amounts owed to related parties 3,060 9,518
Other Creditors 70 -
18,680 24,078

Amounts owed to group undertakings and related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand. Related parties are Infineum Singapore [.LLP, Infineum USA L.P., Infineum (China) Co. Ltd.,
Infineum France SNC, Deutsche Infineum GmbH & Co. KG and Infineum Italia s.r.1. which are not
owned by Infineum Holdings B.V., (the Company’s ultimate holding company). and subsidiaries of
Shell plc and Exxon Mobil Corporation, and Saudi Arabia Lube Additives Co. Ltd. (Salaco).
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INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TQ THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the year ended 31 December 2022 {continued)

12. Called up share capital

2022 2021
£°000 £7000

Allotted and fully paid
100 (2021: 100) ordinary shares of £1.00 cach * *

*Amount less than £1,000

There arc no restrictions on the distribution of dividends and the repayment of capital.

2022 2021
£7000 £7000

Dividend
Equity - Ordinary - -
Interim 2022 (2021: interim 2021} paid 8,741 -
Total dividends paid 8,741 -

An interim dividend was paid for the year ended 31 December 2022, This was in the amount of
£8.741,000. The dividend has been accounted for within the current year financial statements as it was
fully paid during the year. No dividend was paid for the year ended 31 December 2021.

13. Related party transactions

During the year, the Company entered into the following transactions with its related parties:

Turnover Purchases

2022 2022

£'000 £'000

Non-group aftiliates 235,597 133,395
Turnover Purchases

2021 2021

£'000 £000

Non-group affiliates 215,566 112,214

Non-group affiliates are Infineum Singapore LLP, Infineum USA L.P.. Infineum France SNC, Infineum
{talia s.r.1., Infineum (China) Co. Ltd. and Deutsche Infineum GmbH & Co. KG, and their subsidiaries
where applicable, which are affiliates not owned by Infineum Holdings B.V., the Company’s ultimate
holding company. Amounts outstanding from/to related parties as at 31 December 2022 are detailed in
Notes & and 11.

The principal activity of the Company is to act as a service company for the worldwide organisation of
the [nfineum group of companies. The Company incurs costs and recharges them to affiliate companies.
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INFINEUM INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

All related party transactions relate to corporate charges with non-group affiliates.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - for the vear ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

14. Commitment and contingent liabilities

No commitments and contingent liabilities.

15. Ultimate parent and controlling party

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of Infineum Netherlands B.V.. Infineum
Netherlands B.V. is wholly owned by [nfineum Holdings B. V., which is jointly owned by subsidiaries
of Shell Plc and by subsidiaries of Exxon Mobil Corporation. The Company’s ultimate parent company
and controlling party is Infineum Holdings B.V., which is incorporated in the Netherlands and which is
the parent undertaking of the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements. The
immediate parent of the Company is Infineum Netherlands B.V. Copies of the Infineum Holdings B.V.
consolidated financial statements can be obtained from the following address:

Infineum Holdings B.V.
Schiphol Boulevard 359

1118 BJ Amsterdam Schiphol
The Netheriands
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
FINANCIAL YEAR 1 JANUARY 2022 - 31 DECEMBER 2022

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have pleasure in submitting Infineum Holdings 8.V. (*the Company™ or “IHBV”) annual
accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2022,

Infineum Holdings B.V. a company incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands, has its statutory seat
in Rotterdam, the Netherlands, and its registered address at Schiphol Boulevard 359, 1118 BJ. Schiphol,
the Netherlands. The Company’s registration number is 27174718. The Company’s ultimate shareholders
are ExxonMobil Corporation (“ExxonMobil™) and Shell plc (*Shell”). The Company was incorporated in
1998 and acquired the majority of its interests in participations {direct and indirect) during 1999.

On | January 2022, two directors resigned and two new directors were appointed, who are named on the
covering page of this document.

Principal Activities

The Company continues to act as a holding company of a group of companies (the “Group™). Its direct
and indirect participations in subsidiaries and equity companies are listed in Note 1 of the Consclidated
Annual Accounts.

The Company is the holding company tor a group engaged in the manufacture, production and distribution
of fuel and lubricant additives with two main locations for research and development activities, located
in UK and Japan.

Key performance indicators (KPIs)

The Company does not have entity specific KPIs. Performance is monitored and analysed on a global
wider group basis, both in terms of finance and safety.

Financial Information

The Group and Company remains in a positive net asset position. The consolidated net profit for the year
to 31 December 2022 was $63.0 million (2021: $36.0 million). The consolidated revenue for the year to
31 December 2022 was $993.5 million (2021: $935.7 million). The consolidated net cash inflow for the
year was $13.1 million (2021: outflow of $2.6 million).

The Company’s results, cash flow and funding requirements are mainly influenced by the results of its
operating subsidiaries.

The results of the Company and its subsidiaries are determined based on trading activities and the cash
flows are influenced by the timing of the trading activities.

The Company is profitable and, before dividend payments to shareholders, cash generating and hence
does not require support from its parent companies.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
FINANCIAL YEAR 1 JANUARY 2022 — 31 DECEMBER 2022

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Financinl Information (continucd)

The Group’s solvency ratio for the year ended 2022 is 0.57 (2021: 0.45). The Group’s liquidity ratio for
the year ended 2022 is 1.57 (2021: 1.90).

Capital expenditure of the Group in the year primarily relates to investment in software and plant and
machinery (2022: $10.2 million; 2021: $6.5 million)

In December 2022, the Company declared a dividend of $34 million (2021: $i2 million} and this was
paid to its shareholders in December 2022.

Code of Conduct

The Company has adopted and follows a mandatory set of core policies which provides the basis for the
conduct of the wider Infineum group of companies. These can be found on the Company intranet.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The infiheum group of companies is committed to the principles of the Responsible Care global initiative
of the chemical industry, and accordingly to advancing the safe and secure management of chemical
products and processes through continuous improvement in all aspects of health, safety, environmental
and security performance.

As part of this the Infineum group follows these objectives:

¢ To lead in ethical ways that increasingly benefit society, the economy and the environment.

* To design and develop products that can be manufactured, transported, used and disposed of or
recycled safely.

e To work with customers, carriers, suppliers, distributors and contractors to foster the safe and
secure use, transport and disposal of chemicals and provide hazard and risk information that can
be accessed and applied in their operations and products.

e To design and operate facilities in a safe, secure and environmentally sound manner,

* To instill a culture throughout all levels of the organizations to continually identify, reduce and
manage process safety risks.

¢ To promote pollution prevention, minimization of waste and conservation of energy and other
critical resources at every stage of the life cycle of products.

e To cooperate with governments at all levels and organizations in the development of effective
and efficient safety, health, environmental and security laws, regulations and standards.

e To support education and research on the health, safety, environmentat effects and security of
praducts and processes.

¢ Tocommunicate product, service and process risks to stakeholders and listen to and consider their
perspectives.

e To make continual progress toward a goal of no accidents, injuries or harm to human health and
the environment from products and operations and openly report health, safety, environmental
and security performance.

* To seek continual improvement in the integrated Responsible Care Management System® to
address environmental, health, safety and security performance.

¢ To promote Responsible Care by encouraging and assisting other companies to adhere to these
Guiding Principles.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
FINANCIAL YEAR 1 JANUARY 2022 — 31 DECEMBER 2022

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Risk Management

Doing business inherently involves risk taking. By managing these risks, the Company strives to secure
sustainable performance. Therefore, the Company operates a risk management framework that allows
management to tolerate risks in a controlled manner, which is an essential element of its corporate
governance and strategy development.

Risk management framework

The Company has implemented a risk management framework through which management aims to
provide reasonable assurance that strategic and business objectives can be achieved. Management reviews
the risk management framework and the Company’s main risks on a regular basis. For those risks deemed
material, mitigation action plans are developed and reviewed periodically to ensure that these are
adequate.

Risk appetite
Management has formalized the Company’s risk appetite and determined that the risk appetite varies
between zero and moderate depending on the risk category:

Risk appetite table:
Risk category Category description Risk appetite

Strategic risk Risk relating to prospective earnings and Moderate
capital arising from strategic changes in the
business environment and from adverse
strategic business decisions.

Operational risk Risk relating to current operational and Low
financial performance arising from failed
internal processes and systems or from
external events.

Financial risk Risk relating to financial loss due to the Low — moderate
financing structure, cash flows and financial
instruments of the business (including capital
structure, insurance and fiscal structure)
which may impair its ability to operate.

Compliance risk Risk resulting from non-compliance with Zero tolerance
relevant laws and regulations (including
health and safety), internal policies and
procedures.

Risk factors
This section describes the main risks that the Company is facing. The risks have been classified by risk

categories.
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Risk Management (continued)

Risk factors (continued)

The risks listed are not exhaustive, and additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the
Company or deemed material, may also have or develop a material adverse effect on its business,
operations, financial condition or performance, or other interests. Similarly, the mitigating actions
mentioned below are not exhaustive, may be ineffective and may be adjusted from time to time, and their
inclusion in this section does not create any legal obligation for the Company. The sequence in which
these risks and mitigating actions are presented in no way reflects any order of importance, chance or
materiality.

Strategic risks

Fluctuating commodity prices

Price fluctuations can test the business assumptions and influence the Company’s investment decisions,
operational performance and financial position.

The Company reviews commodity price movements against the economic evaluation criteria of its
ongoing projects, thus ensuring the economic viability. Commodity price volatility is intrinsic to the
chemical additives business.

Compliance risks

Changes in legislation and fiscal and regulatory policies

Changes in legislation, taxation (tax rate or policy), regulations and policies all pose a risk to operations
and can affect the operational performance and financial position of the Company.

The Company monitors changes to legislation applicable to the Company and compliance with tax code
and license obligations.

Financial risks
Foreign exchange risk

Changes in currency values and exchange controls, particularly those between the Sterling, Euro and US
Dollar can directly affect the costs and financial position of the Company and influence the operational
performance.

Currency fluctuation is an intrinsic business risk that is hard to predict and manage.

The Company does not use financial instruments for the purposes of managing economic exposure to
cutrency movements. Management is confident that the structure is in place to monitor risk and limit
possible adverse impacts on the performance of the Company.

Interest Rutes

The Company incurs interest rate risk on its interest-bearing non-current receivables, and on interest-
bearing current liabilities. Management continues to monitor this position to ensure the interest rate risk
profile is appropriate for the Company.

Liguidity risk

The Company actively manages its finances to ensure that it has sufficient available funds for its
operations. The Company has a structure in place to monitor the best financing structure for the Company.
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Risk Management (continued)
Fraud risk

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud. There is an enterprise risk management framework in
place to assist functions in managing risk in a systematic way on an on-going basis. Risk assessments are
carried out for each key process in order to understand the risks and to incorporate risk responses inte a
system of management control, protecting Company assets and ensuring reliable reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Mitigating controls are documented and updated as
appropriate as processes change. The strength of these controls is regularly reviewed by the Infineum
group’s Internal Audit function and periodic peer review.

Operational risks
Safety and environmental risks

Risks related to the safety of people, assets and environment are inherent to the industry in which the
Company operates. Materialization of these risks may severely affect the reputation, financial position
and business continuity of the Company.

The Company implements HSSE policies which comply with relevant international standards. The
Company also has insurance cover.

Climate change

Risks related to climate change are increasing in the industry in which the group of Companies operates.
This could see a decline in usage of the internal combustion engine which could impact its profitability.
There is also the risk of increased legal and regulatory measures and compliance obligations. The group
of Companies also recognises the devastating impacts climate change will have on the global community
in which it operates and has made sustainability a key part of its strategy.

The wider Infineum group has set specific and measurable 2025 ambitions set against a 2018 baseline in
the priority areas of operations, solutions and supply chain. In 2022, the wider Infineum group also defined
its ambition to support the Paris Agreement’s GHG emissions reduction trajectory and reach net zero for
scope | and 2 GHG emissions from its operated assets by 2050. As part of this, the group of Companies
has set a provisional roadmap for achieving a 50% reduction in emission intensity by 2030. This involves
working with energy providers to improve the renewable energy mix and optimising manufacturing
facilities to reduce the energy intensity of operations.

In order to achieve these goals, the group of Companies is working to embed sustainability in the
organisational culture. The wider Infineum group has a Sustainability Executive Team which brings
additional oversight and stewardship over the implementation of the strategy and helps to integrate
sustainability objectives across all functions. A management framework is in place to ensure that
environmental protection is incorporated into business planning and operations, Actions to integrate
sustainable design solutions into the product development process have been defined including choosing
more sustainable components and life cycle management, tracking the whole life cycle of a product from
plant, to in use phase, to disposal.
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Risk Managemcnt (conlinucd)

Climate change (continued)

The group of Companies aims to collaborate with suppliers to accelerate improvements across the value
chain and to drive sustainability opportunities, with the intent to have 80% of relevant spend covered by
sustainability assessments by 2025.

In 2023, the Infineum group of companies published its second annual Sustainability report for the year
2022, highlighting key sustainability data and progress made toward its Sustainability strategy. The report
has been externally audited and is publicly available on the Infineum website.

Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors meets on a regular basis in the Netherlands and considers matters appropriate to
a holding company.

At this moment the composition of the Board of Directors is one female and three males, therefore this
does not reflect the situation as described in article 276 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. however the
Company will look for opportunities to change this position when any new Board vacancies arise in the
future.

The group of Companies have specific ambitions to ensure the leadership population is reflective of the
communities in which they operate. The proportien of female senior leaders and female executive leaders
stood at 30% and 22% for the year ended 2022 respectively, with the goal to increase these figures to 33%
and 25% by the year 2025. There are numerous local initiatives and tailored training programmes in place
to support this ambition, including specific inclusivity training for leaders. There is a framework in place
which allows all alleged incidents of discrimination to be anonymously reported and investigated.

Services are provided to the Company by Infineum International Limited ("IINT"), through a service
agreement. At the request of the Company, 1INT also provides services to any subsidiary (both direct and
indirect) of the Company. The Board seeks the advice of the IINT Board in relation to matters for which
IINT has advisory responsibility. The Board of Directors independently evaluates the advice of the IINT
Board, before making any decisions.

The Board of Directors ensures that it has been sufficiently informed on all items presented to it for
consideration.

The average number of persons employed by the Group in 2022 was 610 (2021: 594),

o
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Activities in the field of Research & Development (R&D)

Certain subsidiaries of the Company carry out R&D activities, namely Infineum Japan Ltd and Infineum
UK Ltd. This research and development activity relates to a range of projects, which includes projects
that aim to achieve product performance improvements.

Energy Consumption

The Infineum group’s corporate energy consumption trom non-renewable sources in 2022 was 3.05
gigajoules (2021 2.97). Gross direct Green House Gas Emissions in 2022 were 58.0 metric tonnes Co2
equivalent (2021 67.5).

Subseguent Events and Future Developments

Infineum Mexico § de R.L. de C.V. was formally dissolved at the beginning of 2023. It is intended
(subject to agreement with the respective joint venture partners) that the Company’s direct subsidiary,
Infineum Netherlands B.V. will transfer its shareholdings in the two Chinese joint ventures, Jinzhou Jinex
Lubricant Additives Co Ltd and Shanghuai High Lube Additives Co. Ltd., to its non-group atfiliate
Infineum (China) Co. Ltd, however this is still ongoing.

Within the balance sheet prior to the start of the winding up process, the net assets of Infineum Mexico
were as shown below:

Infineum Mexico

USD'000
Total Asset 11,651
Total Liabilities (1,438)
Net Asset 10,213

No other significant future developments are expected in the markets or the business of the Company in
2023.
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Subsequent Fvents and Future Develepments (continucd)

Russia- Ukraine War

One member of the group of Companies, Infineum UK Ltd, has a representative office established and
registered in Moscow, Russia. However, in response to the Russia Ukraine War which started on the 24th
February 2022, trading with Russian based customers was ceased in March 2022 and as of July 2022, the
representative office was put into a dormant status, with no employees. During the first quarter of 2022
the group of Companies made sales to Russian based customers of £7,078,575. The process of liquidation
of the representalive office was completed in July 2023,

The loss of revenue from Russian customers in 2022 is not considered to impact the Company as a going
concern.

No other significant changes in financing, human resources or investments are expected in 2023.
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DeccuSign Envelope 1D: AC82A839-08CE-4523-8BGA-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM THOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2022
{Before appropriation of results for the year)

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY & LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

PROVISIONS

CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY &
LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 40 form an integral part of the annual accounts.

Note

SN

0 ~]

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
USD'000 UsD'000
8,836 5,906
46,630 50,050
17,817 18.417
73,283 74,373
83,780 43,092
400,769 301,652
34,613 21,540
519,162 366,284
592,445 440,657
254,741 238,528
7,821 6,834
329,883 195,295
592,443 440,657
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DocuSign Envelape 1D ACB2AB39-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F886D70A23
INFINEUM 1HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
Year ended 31 December 2022

Note

Revenue 14
Movement in raw materials and stocks of finished

goads
Other operating income 15
Total operating income
Raw and auxiliary materials and other external costs le
Wages and salaries 22
Social charges 22
Pension charges 22
Depreciation and amortisation of

intangible and tangible fixed assets 4,5
Other operating charges 17
Total operating expenses
Operating profit
Net finance income (loss) and exchange differences 19
Profit from ordinary operations before taxation
Taxation 20

Share in profit of participation

Net profit

The accompanying notes on pages 13 to 40 form an integral part of the annual accounts.

2022 2021
USD’000 UsSD 000
993,518 935,652
(40,687) (177)
285,473 318,783
1,238,304 1,254,258
(832,951) (861,981)
(46,019) (47,792)
(4,646) (4,505)
(7,195) (8,158)
(5,300) (5,830}
(270,633) (268,961)
(1,166,750) (1,197,227)
71,554 57,031
5,550 (5,960)
77,104 51,071
(14.534) (18,756)
433 1,547
63,003 33,862
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DocuSign Envelope ID: ACB2A839-08CE-4523-8BSA-55F886D70A23
INFINEUM 1HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022

UsSp 000
Net Profit 63,003
Other items of comprehensive (loss)/income
Items that are not reclassified to profit or loss in later
periods:
Share of other comprehensive income in equity 1,705
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss in later
periods:
Currency Translation differences (4.901)
Total other items of comprehensive (loss)Yincome (3.1906)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 59,807

2021
UsDr000
33,862

(3,183)

4,074
891

34,753



DocuSign Envelope ID' ACE2A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F886D70A23
INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2022 2021 2021
Cash flow from operating activities Note  USD’000 Usp’ooe  USD000  USD'000
Net profit 63,003 33.862
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 4,5 5,306 5.830
Tax expense 14,534 18.756
Interest income 19 (5,585) (2}
Interest expense 19 35 262
Share of profit of associates and joint
venture 7R (403) (1.439)
(Gain)/loss on post retirement benefit 33 1,705 (3.183)
Unrealised translation difference - 160
78,595 20,384
Movements in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables (99,117) 4,247
Decrease/(increase) in inventories {40,6806) 5.161
Decrease in creditors, including VAT
payable/reclaimable 1,290 (11,731}
(138,513 (2,323)
Movement in provisions 842 (1,505)
Cash inflow/(outflow) generated from
commercial operations (59,076) 50,418
Interest received 19 5,585 2
Interest paid 19 (35) {262)
Income taxes paid (10,022) (6,009)
(4,472) (6,269)
Cash inflow/(outflow) generated from
operating activities (63,548) 44,149
Cash flow from investing activities
Acquisition of tangible/intangible fixed
assets (10,205) (6,480)
Dividend received from equity companies 285 306
Cash outflow from investing activities (9,920) (6,174)
Cash flow from financing activities
Loan (to)/from group companies 27,355 (29,083)
Loan from non-group companies 101,577 8,537
Dividend payment to shareholders (33,997) (12,000)
Cash inflow/(outflow) from financing
activities 94,935 {32,546)
Net cash inflow for the year 21,467 5,429
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
items (8,394) (8.035)
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents tor the year 13,073 (2,606)
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DocuSign Envelope ID: AC82A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Movements in cash and cash equivalents can be analysed as follows:

2022

UusD 000

At 1 January 21,540
Movements in the year 13,073
At 31 December 34,613

The closing cash figure for 2022 comprises of a $34,613k (2021: $21,540k) cash asset.

2021
USD 000

24,146
(2,606)

21,540
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DocuSign Envelope 1D. AC82A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F8860D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

1. General

Activities

Infineum Holdings B.V. has its statutory seat in Rotterdam, the Netherlands, and its registered address at
Schiphol Boulevard 359, 1118 BJ Amsterdam Schiphol, the Netherlands. The Company’s regisiration
number is 27174718. The Company's wultimate shareholders are ExxonMobil Corporation
(“ExxonMobil™) and Shell plc (**Shell™). It is the holding company for a group engaged in the manufacture
and distribution of fuel and lubricant additives. The Company was incorporated on 23 September 1998
and acquired the majority of its interests in participations during 1999. A list of significant participations
is provided below. Throughout these accounts, the terms “Infineum” and “Group” refers to the Infineum
Holdings B.V. group, and reference to the “Infineum group of companies” means the wider Infineum
group including the Group and non-consolidated attiliated group companies.

The Company had the following subsidiaries (direct and indirect) and participations at 31
December 2022:

Proportion
of issued
capital held
(Direct/
Consolidated Domicile indirect)
Infineum Brasil Ltda. Rio de Janeiro, Brazil 100%
Infineum Iberia S.L.U. Madrid, Spain 100%
Infineum International Limited. Milton Hill, England 100%
Infineum UK Ltd. Milton Hill, England 100%
Infineum India Additives Private Limited Mumbai, India 99.97%
Infineum Japan Ltd. Tokyo, Japan 100%
Infineum Korea Ltd. Seoul, Korea 100%
Infineum Mexico Sde R.L.de C.V. Jalisco, Mexico 99.9%
Infineum Netherlands B.V .* Rotterdam, the Netherlands 100%
Non - consolidated
Jinzhou Jinex Lubricant Additives Co Ltd Jinzhou, Peoples Republic of China 50%
Shanghai High Lube Additives Co. Ltd. Shanghai, Peoples Republic of China 50%
Saudi Arabia Lube Additives Co. Ltd. Jeddah, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 40%

* This investment is held directly by the Company. All other participations are held indirectly through
Infineum Netherlands B.V.

The consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of income include the Company’s financial
statements and the financial statements of its direct and indirect subsidiaries.

15



DocuSign Envelope ID° AC82A839-08CE-4523-8BBA-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS BV,
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The company linancial statements and the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code and the firm pronouncements in the
Guidelines for Annual Reporting in the Netherlands as issued by the Dutch Accounting Standards Board.

Given the international structure and nature of operations of the subsidiary companies, the Company's
financial statements are presented in US Dollar.

There have been no changes to accounting policies compared to 2422,
The balance sheet, profit and loss account and cash flow statement include references to the notes.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include those companies in which it, directly or
indirectly, has an interest of more than 50% of the voting rights or can exercise control. The total assets,
liabilities and results (if owned for a full year) of the consolidated companies are included. Minority
interests in the equity and income of subsidiary companies are shown separately. [ntercompany balances,
transactions and unrealised profit in inventory are eliminated on consolidation. The consolidated profit
and loss account includes the proportion of the results for the period of any acquired or divested companies
which the Company has held during the vear as entitled under the terms of the applicable contracts, less
provisions for any permanent impairment in value.

Companies in which it, directly or indirectly, has a material interest of at least 20% and no more than 50%
of the voting rights are carried at net asset value. Other investments are carried at cost.

The accounting policies of the Group companies and other consolidated legal entities have been changed
where necessary, in order to align them to the prevailing Group accounting policies,

An abridged income statement has been included in the company financial statements.

Going concern

The Directors have assessed that the Company is able to operate on a going concern basis. This is based
on the strength of the Company’s financial position, notably its net assets and forecasts taking account of
reasonably possible changes in trading conditions, which should allow the Company to meet its liabilities
over the next 12 months from the reporting date. The Company participates in treasury agreements with
its shareholders, giving it access to sufficient liquid resources for the foreseeable future. As such, the
accounting principles applied to the valuation of assets and liabilities and the determination of results in
these financial statements are based on the assumption of continuity of the Company as a going concern.
The Company continues to review its range of activities generally with a view to growing the business.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: AC82A839-08CE-4523-8BEA-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS BV,
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Related parties

All legal entities that can be controiled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced are considered related
parties. Entities which can control the company and other entities controlled by them are also considered
related parties. In addition, statutory directors and other key management are also considered to be related
parties.

Transactions with related parties are disclosed in the notes insofar as they are not transacted under normal
market conditions. The nature, extent and other information is disclosed it this is necessary in order to
provide the required insight.

All group companies mentioned above (page 13) are considered to be related parties. Transactions
between group companies are eliminated on consolidation. Non-conselidated aftiliated group companies
{Infineum USA L P Infineum USA Inc., Infineum Singapore LLP, Infineum (Shanghai) Additive Co.
Ltd, Infineum (China) Co. Ltd, Infineum Italia S.r.l., Infineum France S.N.C. and Deutsche Infineum
GmbH & Co. KG) are also considered to be related parties. The ultimate parent companies, Shell ple and
ExxonMobil Corporation, and any subsidiaries of these companies also qualify as related parties.

Related party transactions are disclosed in the accounts in ‘Receivables’ (Note 8), ‘Current liabilities’
(Note 13), ‘Revenue’ (Note 14), and *Raw and auxiliary materials and other external costs’ (Note 16) and
‘Other operating charges’ (Note [ 7).

All transactions with related parties are transacted under normal market conditions.

Acquisitions and disposals of group companies
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are recognised in the
financial statements from the acquisition date.

The acquisition price consists of the cash consideration, or equivalent, agreed for acquiring the company
plus any directly attributable expenses. If the acquisition price exceeds the net amount of the fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities, the excess is capitalised as goodwill under intangible assets.

Entities continue to be consolidated until they are sold; they are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method. The cash and cash
equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise the balance sheet item cash and the bank overdraft
forming part of current liabilities. Cash flows in foreign currencies have been translated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the transaction date. Exchange differences affecting cash items are shown separately
in the cash flow statement. Receipts and expenditures in respect of interest and taxation on profits are
included in the cash flow from operating activities. The cost of acquisition of new group companies,
insofar as they ate paid for in cash, and dividends received are included in the cash flow from investing
activities. Dividends paid are recognised as cash used in financing activities. The cash and cash
equivalents of newly acquired group companies are deducted from the cost of acquisition. Non-cash
transactions, including finance leasing, are not included in the cash flow statement.



DocuSign Envelope ID: AC82A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the relevant rules requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. If necessary, for the purposes of providing the view required
under Section 362(1), Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code, the nature of these estimates and
Jjudgements, inciuding the related assumptions, is disclosed in the notes to the financial statement items
in question.

Accounting policies for the Balance Sheet

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at historical cost less amortisation. Allowance is made for impairment losses;
a loss gualifies as an impairment loss if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable amount.

A review for the potential impairment of an intangible asset is carried out if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a tangible asset may not be recoverable.

The amortisation periods for patents and trademarks are 1-10 years.

Research and development expenditure
Research and development expenditure is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Purchased intellectual property
Intellectual property purchased from other companies is valued at acquisition cost and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful economic life, not exceeding 10 years.

Royullies and licence fees

Lump sum, one time royalty or licence fees paid at the time of construction of a facility are capitalised as
part of the cost of the asset at acquisition cost. Royalty or licence fees paid on an annual basis are charged
to the profit and loss account.

Software
Amortisation of software is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Carrying amounts are
tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fixed asset group values
may not be recoverable. Land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives by the straight-line method.

Ordinary maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred; replacements and improvements are
capitalised.

The depreciation periods are:

Buildings - 10 - 40 years
Plant and equipment - 20 years
Other operating fixed assets - 3 - 20 years
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DocuSign Envelope ID- AC82A538-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F386D70A23

INFINEUM HOLINNGS BV,
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Accounting policies for the Balance Sheet (continued}

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Assets in place on formation of Infineum were transferred to Infineum at predecessor cost (i.e. at the net
book value recorded in the parent company accounts). Depreciation has been continued over the original
useful life.

An asset is subject to impairment if the economic environment gives rise to an impairment or if its carrying
amount is higher than its recoverable amount; the recoverable amount is the higher of the net realisable
value and the value in use. Net realisable value is determined based on the active market. In the case that
no active market exists, the value is a best estimate by management. For the determination of the value in
use, cash flows are discounted. If it is established that a previously recognised impairment no longer
applies or has declined, then the impairment will be reversed. The increased carrying amount of the assets
in question is not set higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined had no asset
impairment been recognised.

Financial assets

Non-consolidated participations in respect of which 20% or more of the voting rights are held are
accounted for using the net asset value method. Accordingly, the Company's share of the investees' net
assets and income are reported in its balance sheet and profit and loss account respectively. Net asset
value is calculated using the accounting policies applied in these financial statements.

Associates whose financial information cannot be aligned to these policies are valued based on their own
accounting policies. Other participations in which the Company has no significant influence are carried
at cost. A provision is recorded if and when the Company is fully or partially liable for the debts of the
associate or has the firm intention to allow the associate to pay its debts.

At each balance sheet date, the Company tests whether there are any indications of assets being subject
to impairment. If any such indications exist, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. If this
proves to be impossible, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is
identified.

An asset is subject to impairment if its carrying amcunt exceeds its recoverable amount; the recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Any impairment loss is
recognised in the profit and loss account.

If it is established that a previously recognised impairment loss no longer applies or has declined, the
increased carrying amount of the assets in question is not set higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no asset impairment been recognised.

Assets and liabilities are generally valued at historical cost, production cost or at fair value at the time of
acquisition. If no specific valuation principle has been stated, valuation is at historical cost. In the balance
sheet, income statement and the cash flow statement, references are made to the notes.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventory that is used as component
parts in the manufacturing of products for resale are valued on the last-in-first-out (LIFO) basis, reflecting
material, labour and production overhead.

The realisable value of finished goods is the estimated sales price less directly attributable sales costs. In
determining the realisable value, the obsolescence of the inventories is taken into account.
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DocuSign Envelope 1D AC82A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 Decemaber 2022

2, Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
Accounting policies for the Balance Sheet (continued)

Inventories (continued)

The realisable value of raw materials, consumables and work in progress is derived from the estimated
sales price of the finished products and goods for resale, taking into account the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs that are necessary to realise the sale.

Inventory that is used to facilitate the production process but does not form part of end products for resale
are valued on the weighted average cost basis.

In valuing inventory, appropriate allowance is made for obsolete or slow-moving goods.

The allocation of overheads is based on the normal level of activity, taking into account design capacity,
current working conditions and budgeted levels of activity.

Receivables

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. If payment
of the receivable is postponed under an extended payment deadline, fair value is measured on the basis of
the discounted value of the expected revenues. Interest gains are recognised using the effective interest
method. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash represents cash in hand, bank balances and deposits with a maturity of less than 12 months. Current
account overdrafts at banks are included under bank overdrafts under the heading Current Liabilities.
Cash and cash equivalents are at the Group's free disposal. Cash at banks and in hand is carried at nominal
value,

Other assets
All other assets are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost, except
where a different basis of valuation has been indicated in the annual accounts.

Foreign currencies

Functional Currency — Items in the financial statements of group companies are stated with due
observance of the currency of the primary economic environment in which the respective group company
operates (functional currency). The Company’s functional currency is the Euro.

Presentation Currency — The Company and the Consolidated Annual Accounts are presented in US Dollar.

Transactions - Transactions denominated in foreign currencies in the operating period are recognised in
the financial statements at the exchange rate ruling at the transaction date.

Monetary assets and liabilities — Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into each group company’s functional currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date. Exchange differences resulting from settlement and translation are recognised through the
profit and loss.

Non-monetary assets are held at cost and recognised using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions (or the approximated rates).
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DocuSign Envelope 1D ACB2AB39-08CE-4523-8BBA-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM ITOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
Accounting policies for the Balance Sheet (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Consolidation — Assets and liabilities of consolidated subsidiaries with a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date;
income and expense are translated at the rate of the day. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries and translated
at the closing rate. Any resulting exchange differences are taken directly to the currency translation
account for translation differences within equity.

Equity balances — Equity balances are held at historic rates, except for issued share capital which is
translated at year end rate in line with Dutch Law. Differences between historic rates and year end rates
are included within the currency translation adjustment account.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for legally enforceable or constructive obligations resulting from past events
existing at the balance sheet date, the settlement of which is probable to require an outflow of resources
whose extent can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured on the basis of the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligations
at the balance sheet date and are measured at present value.

If the expenditure to settle obligations is expected to be reimbursed by third parties, the reimbursement is
carried as an asset at the balance sheet date if it is likely to be received as soon as the entity settles the
obligation.

Pensions

As allowed by the Dutch Accounting Standards Board, pension obligations are accounted for based on
ASC 715-30 for Defined Benefit plans and ASC 715-70 for Defined Contribution Plans under the
Codification.

The Group has a number of pension schemes, including a number of defined benefit schemes. These
provide defined pension benefits to employees of Group companies upon reaching retirement age, the
amount of which depends on age, salary and years of service. The pension provision carried on the balance
sheet is the present value of pension benefit obligations under the defined benefit scherne net of fair value
of plan assets, against which unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and unrecognised past service costs
are set off, The required pension provision is measured annually by independent actuaries. The present
value of the obligation is computed by discounting estimated future cash flows, using interest rates
applying to high quality corporate bonds with a term broadly consistent with the term of the related
pension obligation. Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions are credited
or charged to shareholders’ equity. Unrecognised past service costs are taken directly to the profit and
loss account unless the changes in the pension scheme depend on the employees remaining in service for
a specific period (the qualifying peried). In that case, the past service costs are recognised on a straight
line basis over the qualifying period.

For their defined contribution schemes, Group companies pay contributions to pension funds on a
compulsory, contractual or voluntary basis. Except for the payment of contributions, there are no further
obligations in connection with these pension schemes. Contributions are recognised as employee costs
when incurred. Prepaid contributions are accounted for under prepayments and accrued income if this
leads to a repayment or a reduction in future payments.
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DocuSign Envelope ID: AC82A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F886D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued})
Accounting policies for the Balance Sheet {continued)
Provisions (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised to provide for temporary differences between the
tax bases of asseis and liabilities, and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are deductible temporary differences and available fiscal losses and are
recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences and fiscal losses can be utilised.

Amecunts relating to deferred taxation are undiscounted.

Other provisions
Other provisions are recognised at the nominal value of the settlement of the expected obligation.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the Profit and Loss Account on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

Liabilities
On initial recognition current liabilities are recognised at fair value. After initial recognition current

Habilities are measured at the amortised cost price, being the amount received taking into account
premiums or discounts and minus transaction costs. This is usually the nominal value.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Accounting policies for the Profit and Loss Account

General information

Profit or loss is determined as the difference between the realisable vaiue of the goods delivered and
services rendered, and the costs and other charges for the year. Revenues on transactions are recognised
in the year in which they are incurred.

Recognition of income and expenses

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all significant risks and significant rights to the
economic benefits in respect of the goods have been transferred to the buyer. Turnover is determined as
income from the supply of products and is stated net of discounts and value added taxes.

Other operating income includes income from services supplied and is recognised once the services have
been provided or, in the case of services supplied to affiliated group companies, when the related costs
have been incurred by the Infineum Holdings B.V. group companies.

Services are charged to the profit and loss account once it has been determined that these services have
been provided.

Salaries and social security costs are charged to the profit and loss account when due, and in accordance
with employment contracts and obligations.

Other operating charges comprise costs chargeable to the year that are not directly attributable to the cost
of the goods and services sold.

Raw and auxiliary materials and other external costs
Cost of sales represents the direct and indirect expenses attributable to revenue, including raw materials
and consumables and other external expenses.

Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits, salaries, wages and social security contributions are taken to the profit and

loss account based on the terms of employment, where they are due to employees.

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible and tangible fixed assets

Intangible assets are amortised and property, plant and equipment depreciated over their estimated useful
lives as from the inception of their use. Land and assets under construction not in use are not depreciated.
Future amertisation and depreciation are adjusted if there is a change in an asset’s estimated future usefu
econemic life.

Exchange differences
Exchange differences arising upon the settlement of monetary items are recognised in the income

statement in the period they arise.

Finance income and costs
Interest paid and received is recognised on a time-weighted basis, taking account of the effective interest

rate of the assets and labilities concerned.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V,
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Taxation

The Company together with Intineum Netherlands B.V. form a tax group which is subject to tax in the
Netherlands. Company income tax is based upon the resulis reported in the statement of income, as
adjusted for permanent differences. Current tax rates are applied. The settlement of taxes is made by the
Company and settled through the intercompany accounts.

Tax is calculated on the profit before taxation in the profit and loss account, taking into account any losses
carried forward from previous financial years, tax exempt items and non-deductible expenses.

Provisions for deferred taxes have been set up where items entering into the determination of accounting
profit for one period are recognised for taxation purposes in another. The principal differences arise in
conhection with the depreciation of fixed assets and the valuation of inventory. In calculating the
provision, enacted and materially enacted tax rates are applied. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is regarded as probable that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
discounted and are calculated based on the tax rate prevailing on the balance sheet date or the rates that
will apply in the future, insofar as these have been enacted.

The Company is part of the Dutch Fiscal unity together with Infineum Netherlands B.V..
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

3. Financial Risk Management

The Company is exposed to financial risks from a variety of factors that include foreign exchange risk,
inferest rate risk  liqnidity rick and rash flow risk,

Foreign exchange risk
The risk for the Company is concerned with positions and future transactions in US Dollar, EURO, and
pound sterling.

Interest rate risk

The Company incurs interest rate risk on its interest-bearing non-current receivables, and on interest-
bearing current liabilities.

Liquidity risk

The Company actively manages its finances to ensure that it has sufficient available funds for its
operations,

Cash flow risk
The Company’s cash flow risk is minimised by the structure of its funding arrangements.

Credit risk

The THBV group of companies actively manages its portfolio of customers such that its credit risk is
minimised. The Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk. Sales are made to
customers that meet the Group’s credit rating. Goods and services are sold subject to payment deadlines
ranging between 30 and 60 days. A different payment period may apply to major supplies, in which case
additional securities are sought, including guarantees. The Company has issued loans to parent companies,
as well as to underlying group companies. These counterparties do not have a history of non-performance.

Safety and environment
Risks related to the safety of people, assets and environment are inherent to the industry in which Infineum
operates. Materialization of these risks may severely affect the reputation, financial position and business
continuity of Infineum.

Changes in legislation, taxation (tax policy), regulations and other policies

Changes in legislation, taxation (tax rate or policy), regulations and policies all pose a risk to operations
and can affect the operational performance and financial position of the Company.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS BV,
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

4. Intangible assets

The movements in the intangible assets are summarised as follows:

Software and

licences
USD 000
Costs
At 1 January 2022 16,497
Additions 5,456
Foreign currency translation differences {2,736)
At 31 December 2022 19,217
Amortisation
At | January 2022 {10,592)
Charge for the year (1,695)
Foreign currency translation differences 1,906
At 31 December 2022 (10,381)
Net book value at 31 December 2022 8,836
Net book value at 31 December 2021 5,906
Amortisation rate 10%
5. Property, plant and equipment
The movements in property, plant and equipment can be summarised as follows:
Operational Other
land and Plant and operating Assets under
buildings machinery  fixed assets construction Total
UsD'000 USD'000 UusD'000 usD'ogo UsDooo
Caost
At | January 2022 19,482 53,284 13,979 13,604 100,349
Additions 94 1,107 54 4378 5,633
Disposals - - (41) (215) (256)
Transfers - - 27 (678) (651)
Foreign currency - (8,224) 1,750 - (6,474)
translation differences
At 31 December 2022 19,576 46,167 15,769 17,089 98,601
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

5. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Operational Other
land and Plant and operating Assets under
buildings machinery fixed assets construction Total
usD'000 UsD'coo vsD'o00 uUsD'e00 UsD'ooo

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment

At 1 January 2022 (4,770) (38,181) (7,348) - (50,299)
Depreciation charge for year - (3,337) (275) - (3,612)
Disposals - 4 23 - 27
Foreign currency - 3,844 (1,931) - 1,913
translation difference
At 31 December 2022 (4,770) (37,670) (9,531) - (51,971)
Net book value at
31 December 2022 14.806 8.497 6,238 17,089 46,630
Net book value at
31 December 2021 14,712 15,103 6,631 13,604 50,050
Depreciation rate 2.5% - 10.0% 5.0% 3.0%-33.0%
Assets under construction are not depreciated.
The nature of the assets in ‘ Assets under construction” are primarily plant and machinery.
Management does not consider any impairment of property, plant and equipment necessary.
6. Financial assets
Participations stated at net asset value 2022 2021
usSD’000 USD 000
Net asset value at | January 18,417 18,449
Dividends received (285) (306)
Share in results 403 1,439
Foreign currency translation differences (718) (1,165)
Net asset value at 31 December 17,817 18,417

The initial valuation of the investments is at cost. The Company is not liable for the debts of the
participations.
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NOTES 1O THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

7. inventories

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

usp’ooo UsSD’ 000

Raw and auxiliary materials 2,693 2,757
Finished products and goods for resale 81,087 40,335
83,780 43,092

The value of inventory under LIFQ calculated on a period end basis for 2022 is $46.9 million (2021:
$42.0 million). The carrying value of inventories is equal to the net realisable value,

8. Receivables

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

USD’000 UsSD 000

Trade receivables 118,958 103,796
Receivables from affiliated and ExxonMobil/Shell group

companies due within 1 year 220,666 137.503

Deferred tax asset 4,573 -

Income tax receivable 10,659 12.064

Other receivables 10,685 1738

Prepayments and accrued income 23,600 26,731

389,141 281.832

Other receivables due after more than one year 11,628 19,820

400,769 301,652

The fair value of the accounts receivable approximates the carrying amount, given the current character
of the receivables and the fact that provisions for bad debt are recognised, where necessary.

Receivables from ExxonMobil/Shell group companies are interest bearing. The interest rate may vary
between LIBOR/EURIBOR +1.90% and +0.59%. The fair value of receivables approximates the book
value. All receivables are due in less than one year.

The amount contained within “Other receivables due after more than once yeat” primarily relates to
Pension $11,107,000 (2021 : $19,683.000).

The amount contained within ‘Trade receivables’ includes a bad debt provision of $201,000 (2021:
$157.000).

The deferred tax asset primarily relates to temporary timing differences for the valuation of inventory.

Receivables from group and affiliated companies do not bear any interest and are repayable on
demand.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDLED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

8. Receivables (continued)

The Company has financial assets comprising of receivables and loans, these are measured at
aorLised cost.

All transactions with related parties are carried out under normal market conditions.

9. Cash and cash equivalents

UusD’ 000
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2022 34,613

The cash as at 31 December 2022 is at the free disposal of the Group as a whole, The increase of $13.1k
is driven by an increase in financing, particularly with regards to loans from parent companies.

10, Shareholders’ equity

Shareholders’ equity is detailed in the Company balance sheet on page 38 and in the related notes.

11. Provisions

The movements in provisions during the year were:

Deferred
Pensions tax liabilities Bonus Other Total

UsD'000 UsD'ooo UsD'000 uspooo  USD'00O
Balance at 1 January 2022 - 3,111 3.390 333 6,834
(Released) to income (10,170) {293) - (221) (10,684)
Charged to post-retirement 8,712 - - 8.712
benefit reserve
Addition of long-term bonus - - 1,808 - 1,808
provision
Reclassification* (1,061) - - - (1,061)
Pay-out of long-term bonus
provision in current year - - (1,663) - (1,663)
Employer contribution - - - - -
Translation differences 2,519 1,356 - - 3,875
Balance at 31 December 2022 - 4,174 3,535 112 7,821

* Transfer to Receivables relates to the short-term portion of pension.

All provisions shown are at fair value.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 3! DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

11. Provisions (continued)

In 2016 the Directors of Infineum UK Ltd. and the Trustee of the Infineum UK Pension Plan agreed the
annuul deficit closure lump sum paymeuts of £1,460,000 per annum starting in May 201 ¥ until May 2026,
or until the funding shertfal! in the Infineum UK Pension Plan has been eliminated if sooner.

The pension obligation in relation to the Infineum UK Pension Plan is assessed in accordance with the
advice of Broadstone Pensions & Investments Ltd using the projected unit method. Per the latest actuarial
report as at December 2022, the defined benefit scheme is now in a surplus position.

The provision for deferred income taxes is recognised to account for taxable temporary differences
between the tax base of ‘Property, plant and equipment’, and their carrying amounts in the financial

statements.

Other provisions comprise:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
USDr 000 UsD 000
Provision for employee service & severance (2-5 years) 112 333
The bonus provision is unsecured and does not bear interest.
The bonus provisions are repayable as foliows:
2022 2021
USD'000 USD'000
Of which:
Duration <] year (Note 13) 7,548 5,531
Duration >1year <5 years 3,535 3.390
Total benus provision 11,083 8,921

Provisions due in 1-5 years relates to long term bonus for Infineum UK Ltd.
The provisions shown are at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

12. Pensions

The Group has a number of defined-benefit pension plans for employees of Group companies in certain
locations. These peusion obligations are accounted for as tollows:

Obligations and funded status

2022 2021
Change in benefit obligations: USD 000 uUsD’000
Benefit obligation at beginning of year (311,215 (315,425)
Service cost (4,447) (5,335)
Interest cost (5,026 (3.877)
Employee participants contributions (5) (7)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 105,420 87
Benefits paid 6,747 9.019
Plan amendments 454 -
Foreign currency translation differences 30,741 4.323
Benefit obligation at end of year (177,331) (311,215)

2022 2021
Change in plan assets: UsD’000 UsD 000
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 331,290 329.769
Actual return on plan assets (95,147) 2,217
Employer contributions 4,011 12,535
Employee contributions 5 7
Benefits paid (6,747) (9,004)
Foreign currency translation differences (32,947) (4,234)
Fair value of assets at end of the year 200,465 331,290
Funded status 23,134 20,075

The accumulated benefit obligation as at 31 December 2022 was $267.6 million (2021: $300.1 million).
The actuarial gain increased significantly in the year due to a change in financial assumptions for the UK

defined benefit obligation, including the discount rate, inflation and salary growth assumptions. The
return on plan assets was also measured for the UK pension fund, causing a large decrease.
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NOTES 1TQ THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

12. Pensions (continued)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet consist of:

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
USD’000 UsD 000
Current liabilities (7,022) (7,840)
Non-current assets 30,156 27,915
23,134 20,075
Shareholders’ equity (gross) 38,701 36,240
Net amount recognised 61,835 56,315
Amounts recognised in shareholders’ equity consist of?
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
UsSD’000 USD’ 000
Accumulated actuarial loss (38,701) (36,240)
Deferred tax on accumulated actuarial gain 9,532 6,957
Net amount recognised in equity (29,169) (29,283)

The majority of the plan assets are held in the Infineum UK Pension Plan. As at the measurement date,
these plan assets were allocated as follows:

2022 2022 2021
Target Actual Actual

Asset category
Equity securities 30% 31.4% 30.3%
Debt securities 70% 68.1% 69.5%
Real estate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Other 0.0% 0.5% 0.2%
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

12. Pensions (continued)

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, are expected to be paid:

UsD’000
2023 7,022
2024 7.845
2025 8,588
2026 10,021
2027-2030 63,900

Expected employer contributions to funded plans for 2023 are $7.0 million (2022: $7.8 million).

Assumptions

The plan assets, plan liabilities, and net periodic pension costs are calculated utilising a number of
assumptions and projections. Two of the most important assumptions are the expected return on plan
assets and the discount for determining the funded status shown below.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for years ended 31
December were as follows:

2022 2021
Discount rate 4.62% 1.78%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 2.50% 3.33%
Rate of compensation increase 3.13% 2.60%

The selection of a discount rate is required to determine the value of the future pension obligations and
represents management’s best estimate of the cost in the market place to settle all pension obligations.
The discount rate is determined based upon current market indicators, including yields from dedicated
bond portfolios that provide for general matching of bond maturities with the projected benefit cash
flows from our plans.

The long-term expected rate of return is established based on forward looking, long-term return
assumptions for each asset class, taking into account factors such as the expected real return on specific
asset class and inflation.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDLD 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

13. Current liabilities

31 December

31 December

2022 2021

usD’o00 USD 000

Trade creditors 62,838 57,684
ExxonMobil/Shell group companies 40,451 13,096
Non — consolidated affiliated companies 204,793 103,216
Taxes and other social charges 12,828 14,609
Other creditors 836 900
Short-term bonus provision 7,548 5,531
Accruals and deferred income 589 259
329,883 195,295

The amount owing to ExxonMobil/ Shell group companies relates to an intercompany loan which

fluctuates significantly menth on month.

There has also been a large increase in intercompany purchases ot goods for resale from non-consolidated

affiliated companies, particularly from France, Italy and Singapore.

Taxes and other social charges

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
usD’000 usD*o0o
Turnover tax 3,758 6,065
Corporate income tax 9,070 8,544
12,828 14,609

Corporate income tax can be broken down as follows:
2022 2021
USD’000 UsD’000
Payable as at | January 5,339 3.674
Payable for financial year 18,919 9,174
Total 24,258 12,848
Paid during the financial year (14,296) (7,509)
Payable as at 31 December 9,962 5,339

All current liabilities are due within one year.

Payables to group and affiliated companies do not bear any interest and are repayable on demand.

All transactions with related parties are carried out under normal market conditions.

Liabilities to ExxonMobil/Shell group companies include loan deposit agreements which are interest
bearing. The interest rate may vary between LIBOR/EURIBOR - 1 .90% and +0.59%. The fair value of

liabilities approximates the book value.

34



DocuSign Enveiope 1D AC82A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F886D70DA23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAIL ACCOUNTS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

13. Current Liabilities (continued)

The Company has financial liabilities which comprise of trade creditors and loans. These are measured at

amortised cost.
Bank overdrafts and loans

No overdrafts are applicable in 2021 and 2022.

14. Revenue

Non - consolidated affiliated companies
ExxonMobil/Shell group companies
Third parties

Revenue can be analysed by geographical area as follows:

Asia Pacific

Europe and the Middle East & Africa
Latin America

USA and Canada

All revenue relates to the sale of petroleum additives products.

Revenue increased due to improved economic activity which increased volume and price.

15. Other operating income

Non - consolidated affiliated companies
Third parties

2022 2021
USD’000 USD 000
46,128 40.995
283,277 271.099
664,113 623,558
993,518 935,652
2022 2021
USD*000 USD’000
243,600 222,528
580,559 594,762
168,697 117,647
662 715
993,518 935,652
2022 2021
USD'000 USD000
281,279 313,786
4,194 4.997
285,473 318,783

Other operating income primarily relates to the provision of group services and provision of
manufacturing and utilities services to non-Group companies. Income from intercompany recharges

decreased in 2022 compared to the previous year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued}
Year ended 31 December 2022

16. Raw and auxiliary materials and other external costs

2022 2021

UsD’000 UsD*000

Non - consolidated affiliated companies 736,231 706,607
ExxonMobil/Shell group companies 1,716 413
Third parties 95,004 154,961
832,951 861,981

2022 2021

UusD’aoo USD 000

Raw and auxiliary materials 823,570 850,086
Other external costs 9,381 11,895
832,951 861,981

The cost of sales increased in line with sales activity, however this was offset by the inventory valuation.

17. Other operating charges

2022 2021

usp’ooo usD’000

Non - consolidated affiliated companies 98,445 92,825
ExxonMobil/Shell group companies 5,679 6,495
Audit fees (Note 18) 671 598
Third parties 165,838 169,043
270,633 268,961

Other operating charges primarily relates to the provision of group services and provision of
manufacturing and utilities services. Costs from intercompany recharges increased in 2022 compared to
the previous year.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

18. Audit fees

2022 2022 2022
Pricewaterhouse Other

Coopers Accountants audit/network Total

Description audit fee type N.V. firms amount
USD'000 USD'ooo USsSD'000
Audit costs, review of the annual accounts 48 204 252
Audit costs, other audit assignments - - -
Audit costs, fiscal advisory services - 419 419
Other non-audit services - - -
Total audit fees 48 623 671

The fees listed above relate to the procedures applied to the Company and its consolidated group entities
by accounting firms and external independent auditor as referred to in Section I, subsection 1 of the Audit
Firms Supervision Act (*Wet toezicht accountant organisaties — Wta’) as well as by Dutch and foreign-

based accounting firms, including their tax services and advisory groups.

These fees relate to the audit of the 2022 financial statements, regardless of whether the work was

performed during the financial year.

19. Net finance income / (loss) and exchange differences

2022 2022
UsSD’000 UsD™ 000
Interest income — related companies 223
Interest income - other 80
303
Interest expense - related companies (35)
Interest expense - other -
3%
Foreign exchange gain/ (loss) 5,282
5,550

2021
usSD 000

(166)

2021
usD 000

(96)

(262)
(5,700)

(5.960)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

20. Taxation

The taxation on result of ordinary activities amounts to $17.8 million (2021: 518.8 million} and can be
specified as follows:

2022 2021

USD’000 USD 000

Deferred taxes (4,382) 2,180
Income tax expense from current financial year 17,620 17,471
[ncome tax expense from prior financial years 1,296 (893)
14,534 18,756

Effective tax rate 18.74% 35.65%
Average tax rate 21.69% 32.39%

The effective tax rate differs from previous years, primarily due to permanent differences.

The average tax rate is based on the relative proportion of the Group companies’ contribution to the result
and the tax rates ruling in the countries concerned.

USD'000 Y

Profit before tax including share in profit of

participation 77,537

Tax at average rate 16,818 21.69
Prior year assessments updated during the year 1,296 1.67
Deferred tax (4.382) (5.65)
Withholding tax 802 1.03
Tax at effective tax rate 14,534 18.74

For corporate income tax purposes, the Company and its direct subsidiary are a fiscal unity.

Pursuant to the Collection of State Taxes Act, the Company and its direct subsidiary are both severally
and jointly liable for the tax payable by the combination.

In the financial statements of the Company, tax expenses are calculated on the basis of the commercial
result realised by the Company, and its subsidiaries settle these expenses through their intercompany
(current) accounts.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

21. Leases

The principal provisions relate to the lease of office space. Amounts due under operating leases in

effect at 31 December 2022 amount to:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
USD’000 USD*000 usD’ 000 UsD' 000
Land & Land &
buildings Other buildings Other
Less than one year 726 49 107 -
Due in I — 5 years 224 94 998 -
950 143 1,105 -

Within the Profit and Loss account there are charges relating to leases of $1.4 million (2021: $1.2 million).

22. Employee information

The average number of persons employed by the Group during 2022 was 590 (2021: 594) and can be

categorised as follows:

2022 2021

Manufacturing 75 71
Technology 360 388
Sales 39 38
Marketing 12 9
Other 104 88
590 594

The average number of persons employed outside the Netherlands during 2022 was 609 (2021: 593)

The salaries and social security costs for the employees are classified as follows:

2022 2021

UusD’000 USD 000

Wages and salaries 46,019 47,792
Social charges 4,646 4,505
Pension charges 7,195 8,158
57,860 60,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

23. Remuneration of directors

The directors received total remuneration of $0.7 million in 2022 (2021: $0.6 million).

24. Subsequent events and future developments

Infineum Mexico S de R.L. de C.V. was formally dissolved at the beginning of 2023. It is intended
{subject to agreement with the respective joint venture partners) that the Company will transfer its
shareholdings in the two Chinese joint ventures, Jinzhou Jinex Lubricant Additives Co Ltd and Shanghai
High Lube Additives Co. Ltd., to its non-group affiliate Infineum (China) Co. Ltd, however this is still
ongoing.

Within the balance sheet prior to the start of the winding up processes, the net assets of Infineum Mexico
were as shown below:

Infineum Mexico

UsD'000
Total Asset 11,651
Total Liabilities (1,438)
Net Asset 10,213

No other significant future developments are expected in the markets or the business of the Company in
2023.

Russia- Ukraine War

One member of the group of Companies, Infineum UK Ltd, had a representative office established and
registered in Moscow, Russia. However, in response to the Russia Ukraine War which started on the 24th
February 2022, trading with Russian based customers was ceased in March 2022 and as of July 2022, the
representative office was put into a dormant status, with no employees. During the first quarter of 2022
the group of companies made sales to Russian based customers of £7,078,575. The process of liquidation
of the representative office was completed in July 2023.

The loss of revenue from Russian customers in 2022 is not considered to impact the Company as a going
concern.

No other significant changes in financing, human resources or investments are expected in 2023.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 December 2022
(Before appropriation of results for the year)

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
Note usD'000 UsDrooo
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Financial assets 27 246,123 232,672
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 246,123 232,672
CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 28 75,520 49,557
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 75,520 49,557
TOTAL ASSETS 321,643 282,229
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY & LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Issued share capital 29 5,324 5,652
Share premium account 30 194,790 204,060
Currency translation adjustment account 31 (26,142) (21,241)
Accumulated profits 32 70,159 70,294
Other reserve 32 (52,393) (54,098)
Result for the year a3 63,003 36,031
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 254,741 240,698
CURRENT LIABILITIES 34 66,902 41,531
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY &
LIABILITIES 321,643 282,229

The accompanying notes on pages 40 to 46 form an integral part of the annual accounts.

It is proposed by the directors to add the remaining part of the result to accumulated reserve.



DocuSign Envelope 1D ACB2A839-08CE-4523-8B6A-55F888D70A23

INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

COMPANY PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
Year ended 31 December 2022

Net result from participations after tax

Net other results after tax

Net result after tax

The accompanying notes on pages 40 to 46 form an integral part of the annual accounts.

The average number of persons employed by the Company during 2022 was 0 (2021: 0).

2022 2021

USD’000 USD 000
35,054 12445
27,949 23.586
63,003 36,031
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

25. General

Activities
The Company’s activities are included in Note | to the consolidated accounts on page 13.

Statement of income
As allowed by Book 2:402 a summarised statement of income has been presented for the Company.

26. Summary of significant accounting policies

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the statutory provisions of
Part 9, Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code and the firm pronouncements in the Guidelines for Annual
Reporting in the Netherlands as issued by the Dutch Accounting Standards Board.

The accounting policies for the Company financial statements are in line with those in the consolidated
annual accounts {pages 8 — 37).

27. Financial assets

All participations are stated at net assel value, using the same method as applied to non-consolidated
group participations in the consolidated financial statements (see Note 1 to the consolidated annual
accounts},

A list of (direct and indirect) participations at 31 December 2022 is provided in the notes to the
consolidated annual accounts (page 13).
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

27. Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets comprise:

Participations stated at net asset value
- Group companies (consolidated in the Group’s financial
statements)

- Other Group companies (non-consolidated in the Group’s
financial statements)

Net asset value at 31 December

Participations in Group companies

Net asset value at 1 January

Dividends received

Share in results

Dividends from non-consolidated companies
Other reserve

Translation differences

Net asset value at 31 December

Participations in other Group companies

Net asset value at | January
Dividends received

Share in results

Translation differences

Net asset value at 31 December

2022 2021
USD’000 USD000
228,307 214,255
17,816 18.417
246,123 232,672
2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000
214,255 202,914
(35,099) (12,000)
62,646 34,147
285 306
1,705 (3.183)
(15,485) (7,929)
228,307 214,255
2022 2021
USD000 USD 000
18,417 18,449
(285) (306)
403 1,439
(719) (1,165)
17,816 18,417

Management does not consider any impairment necessary.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

28. Receivables

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

USD’ 000 USD’ 000

Receivables from ExxonMobil/Shell group companies 75,520 49,557

All receivables are due within one year. Receivables from ExxonMobil/ Shell group companies are
interest bearing. The interest rate may vary between LIBOR/EURIBOR - 1 90% and +0.59%.

The amounts relate to intercompany loan deposit agreements and fluctuate significantly month on month.

29, Issued share capital

The share capital of the Company comprises 3 classes of preference shares and 8 classes of ordinary
shares, as shown in the table below. Each share had a nominal value of NLG 10 until 23 November 2001.
On this date, the nominal value of each share was converted to EURO 4,50.

Class Type Authorised Issued and fully paid

Number EURQO Number EURO

A Preference 600,000 2,700,000 - -
Al Ordinary 76,568 344,556 50,866 228,897
A2 Ordinary 328,054 1,476,243 179,257 806,657
A3 Ordinary 202,054 909,243 101,027 454,622
A4 Ordinary 393,324 1,769,958 223,422 1,005,399
B Preference 600,000 2,700,000 - -
Bl Ordinary 215,676 970,542 140,044 630,198
B2 Ordinary 456,892 2,056,014 234,172 1,053,774
B3 Ordinary 327,148 1,472,166 180,200 310,900
B4 Ordinary 10,142 45,639 156 702
C Preference 20,000 90,000 - -
3,229,858 14,534,361 1,109,144 4,991,149
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

29. 1ssued share capital {continued)

For reporting purposes, the shares are grouped into the categories A, B and C. The ordinary A shares are
owned indirectly by ExxonMobil Corporation. The ordinary B shareg are owned indirectly by Royal
Dutch Shell ple.

Authorised share capital 31 December 31 December
2022 2021

EURQ’000 EURO’000

A shares 7,200 7,200
B shares 7,244 7,244
C shares 2 90
14,534 14,534

Share capital issued and paid up

2022 2021
USD’000 USD’000
A shares
Balance at 1 January 2,826 3.062
Foreign currency transiation differences (164) (236)
Balance at 31 December 2,662 2.826
B shares
Balance at 1 January 2,826 3,062
Foreign currency translation differences (164) (236)
Balance at 31 December 2,662 2,826
Total balance at 31 December 5,324 5,652

Share capital at 31 December 2022 was €4,991,149 (2021: €4,991,149) split equally between A shares
and B shares. Share capital is translated into US Dollar at the exchange rates at the balance sheet dates.

Exchange rate for 31 December 2022 EUR 0.93756 = USD |
Exchange rate for 31 December 2021 EUR ©¢.88292 = USD 1

All of the paid-up and called-up share capital qualifies as fully paid-up share capital for tax purposes.
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INFINEUM HOLDINGS B.V.
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

30. Share premium account

2022 2021

USD'000 USD000

Balance at 1 January 204,060 217,331
Foreign currency translation differences (9,270) (13.271)
Balance at 31 December 194,790 204,060

Share premium at 31 December 2022 was €178,907,042 (2021: €178,907,042) Share premium is
translated into US Dollar at the year-end rate of 0.93756.

31. Currency translation adjustment account

2022 2021
UusD'000 UsD'o00
Balance at | January (21,241) (25,3135
Foreign currency translation differences (4,902) 4,074
Balance at 31 December (26,143) (21,241)
32. Accumulated profits and other reserve
2022 2021
USD'000 USD'000
Other reserve
Balance at 1 January (54,098) (50,915)
Current year movement on OCIR 1,705 (3,183)
Balance at 31 December (52,393) (54,098)
Accumulated profits
Balance at 1 January 70,294 46,331
Net result of the previous year 33,862 35,963
Dividends paid (33,997) (12,000)
Legal reserve - -
Balance at 31 December 70,159 70,294

The result for the year is equal to the consolidated profit for the year as per the consolidated profit and
loss account on page 11.
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YEAR ENDLED 31 DECEMBER 2022

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

33. Profit Appropriation

Article 22 of the Company’s statutes states that out of the profit carned in the preceding year, primarily
and to the cxtent possible, a preference dividend will be distributed on the class A preference shares, class
B preference shares and class C preference shares. The allocation of the remaining profits shall be

determined by genetal mesting.

It is proposed by the directors to add the remaining part of the result to accumulated profit/deficit.

34. Current liabilities

31 December 31 December

2022 2021

USD'000 UusD'000

Payable to ExxonMobil/Shell group companies 66,902 41,531

All current liabilities are due within cne year. Liabilities to ExxonMobil/Shell group companies include
loans which are interest bearing. The interest rate may vary between LIBOR/EURIBOR - 1.90% and
+0.59%. The fair value of liabilities approximates the book value.

The amounits relate to loan deposit agreements which fluctuate significantly month on month.

35. Commitments and contingent liabilities

IHBV Group companies have obligations under various agreements and guarantees and are involved in
claims and inquiries. Management believe that resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse
effect on the financial position of the IHBV Group or the results of its operations at 31 December 2022,

Infineum Netherlands B.V. has given a guarantee for up to $29.1 million to Citibank N.A., New York
in respect of loan facilities granted to certain Company subsidiaries (direct & indirect) trading in Latin
America, Asia, Canada and UK. The facilities were not utilised in 2022.

The Company provides a pension guarantee to Infineum UK Pension Trustee Ltd. as Trustee of the
Infineum UK Pension Plan (“the Scheme™) for all present and future obligations and liabilities of Infineum
UK Ltd. to make payments to the Scheme up to a maximum amount equal to the lowest non-negative
amount which, when added to the assets of the Scheme, would result in the Scheme being at least 105 per
cent funded on the date on which any liability under the Guarantee arises, calculated on the basis set out
in section 179 of the Pensions Act 2004, were a valuation to be conducted as at that date. There is no
expiration.

Infineum Netherlands B.V. provides a guaraniee to Infireum UK Pension Trustee Ltd. (as trustee of
the Infineum UK Pension Plan) in respect of the obligations of Infineum UK Ltd to fund the pension
plan. The obligations include not enly on-going pension contributions for active members but also
payments agreed between Infineum UK Ltd. and the trustee to eliminate the funding deficit. The
maximum amount of the guarantee is £50,000,000.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continucd)
Year ended 31 December 2022

35. Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

The Company forms an incnme tay gronp with Infinenm Netherlands R V' Tinder the Ditch collection
of State Taxes Act, the Company and its fellow group members are jointly and severally liable for any
taxes payable by the tax group.
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OTHER INFORMATION
1. Appropriation of result — provisions in Company’s articles of association
Article 22 of the Company’s articles of association states that out of the result for the year, primarily and
to the extent possible, a preference dividend will be distributed on the class A preference shares, class B

preference shares, and class C preference shares. The allocation of the remaining result is at the disposal
of the atmual general meeting of shareholders.

2. Independent Auditor’s report

The report of the independent auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. is presented on the next
page.
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Independent auditor’s report

To: the general meeting of Infineum Holdings B.V.

Report on the financial statementis 2022

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of Infineum Holdings B.V. (‘the Company’) give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and the Group (the company together with its
subsidiaries) as at 31 December 2022, and of its result for the year then ended in accordance with Part
9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Whett we have audited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2022 of Infineum Holdings B.V., Rotterdam.
The financial statements cumprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the

company financial statements.

The financial statements comprise;

. the consolidated and company balance sheet as at 31 December 2022;

- the consolidated and company profit and loss account for the year then ended;

. the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and
the notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies applied and other explanatory
information.

The financial reporting framework applied in the preparation of the financial statements is Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The basis for our opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing,.
We have further described our responsibilities under those standards in the section

‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., Fascinatio Boulevard 350, 3065 WB Rotterdam, P.0. Box 8800,
3009 AV Rotterdam, the Netherlands
T: +31 (0) 88 792 00 10, F: +31 (0) 88 792 95 33, www.pwe.nl

'‘PwC’ s the brand under which PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants NV (Chamber of Commerce 34180283) PricewaterhouseCoopers Belastingadviseurs NV
(Chamber of Comrmerce 34 180284}, PncewaterhouseCoopers Adwisery NV (Chamber of Commerce 34180287), PncewatsrhouseCoopers Compliance Services B v
(Chamber of Commerce 51414406} PncewaterhouseCoopers Pensions Aciuarial & Insurance Services BV (Chamber of Commerce 54226368)
PncewaterhouseCoopers BV {Chamber of Commerce 34180289} and other companies operate and provide services These services are govemed by General Terms.
and Canditions { algemene voorwaarden'), which include provisions regarding our hability Purchases by these companies are govemed by General Terms and Condibons
of Purchase ('algemene inkoopvoarwaarden’) At www pwe nl more detailed information on these compan es 1s avatiable including these General Terms and Conditions
and the General Terms and Conditians of Purchase. which have also been filed at the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce
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Independence

We are independent of Infineum Holdings B.V. in accordance with the ‘Wet teezicht
accountantsorganisaties’ {(Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the ‘Verordening inzake de
onafthankelijkheid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations
in the Netherlands. Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels
accountants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

Information in support of our opinion

We designed our audit procedures with respect to fraud and going concern, and the matters resulting
from that, in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion
thereon. The information in support of our opinion, such as our findings and observations related to
the audit approach fraud risk and the audit approach going concern was addressed in this context, and
we do not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these matters.

Audit approach fraud risks

We identified and assessed the risks of material misstatements of the financial statements due to
fraud. During our audit we obtained an understanding of Infineum Holdings B.V. and its environment
and thie components of the internal control system. This included the board of directors’ risk
assessment process, the beard of directors’ process for responding to the risks of fraud and monitoring
the internal control systemn. We refer to section ‘Fraud Risk’ of the report of the directors for
management’s risk assessment.

We evaluated the design and relevant aspects of the internal control system with respect to the risks of
material misstatements due to fraud and in particular the fraud risk assessment, as well as the code of
conduct, anti-bribery and corruption guidelines, anti-inoney laundering policy whistleblower
procedures, among other things. We evaluated the design and the implementation and, where
considered appropriate, tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls designed to mitigate
fraud risks.

We asked members of the management board as well as the internal audit department, finance
function, and human rescurces whether they are aware of any actual or suspected fraud. This did not
result in signals of actual or suspected fraud that may lead to a material misstatement.

As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to
financial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and bribery and corruption. We evaluated
whether these factors indicate that a risk of material misstatement due to fraud is present.

We identified the following fraud risks and performed the following specific procedures:

Identified fraud visks - Our ardit work and observations B

Risk of management override of We paid specific attention to the access safeguards in the
conlrols IT system and the possibility that these lead to violations of the
Manazement b iy a unique position to segregation of duties.

perpelrate traud bevarae of muanagenient’s

ability to mampulate acconting record< and - We selected journal entries based on risk eriteria and condueted
prepate rendilont ool statement= specific audit procedures for these entries. These procedures
overriding conteals that othersise appear o include, amongst others, inspection of the entries to source

e operding effeetivehy o _ documentation.
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Tt is sy we pad alfenton to e visk of
manaeement overeide of conteols. including
viskes of polentinlhmisstatements due (o trad
Based onan analysis of potential interests of
mastgettent i areas where mangaeiment
wolld st Blkeby override contrabs, e,
aecouniing tor siznific nt itustial
trtttsactiens. tecording of eritical aceoumting
eefimites. hooking of imanual jouria) entrics.
oy meomplete inacearate diselostres.,

We pay particular attention to tendencies due

Loy possible interests of inanage nent

Risk of fraud in revenue recognition

Furthermore:

*  we paid attention to significant transactions outside the
normal course of business;

+ we reviewed significant and/or unusual contracts;

+ we performed periodic interviews with management,
including members of operational areas to understand the
business and control risk;

«  we reviewed the adequacy of journal entries with the
assistance of data analytics tools;

e we tested transactions with related parties.

Our audit procedures did not lead to specific indications of

fraud or suspicions of fraud with respect to management
_override of controls, e o

We evaluated the desié,n and implementation of the internal

Vs part of o risk assessoient and hosed on control system in the processes related to revenue reporting.

proesumption that there are risks of frand in

) ) L . We paid specific attention to the access safeguards in the
revere recogritiont e ceatuated wehich (ype

IT system and the possibility that these lead to violations of the

Of POPeRUe I isactions ar assertions give K .
segregation of duties.

rise to the rish of frovd in reve e
rectgtion. . . .

We performed data analyses to identify potential notable
revenue entries in the financial year and performed specific
substantive audit procedures on these entries, including
determining whether these entries are based on deliveries that
actually took place in the financial year.

We tested, on a sample basis, the delivered performance and
transaction prices of the revenue transactions based on
purchase orders, sales invoices, clients’ acceptance of the
delivered projects and cash receipts. In addition, we performed
audit procedures on credit notes after the balance sheet date to
verify if fictitious revenue has been recognized in the current
financial year.

Our audit procedures did not lead to specific indications of
fraud or suspicions of fraud with respect to material unusual
revenue transactions.

We incorporated an element of unpredictability in our audit. During the audit, we remained alert to
indications of fraud. We also considered the outcome of our other audit procedures and evaluated
whether any findings were indicative of fraud or non-compliance of laws and regulations. Whenever
we identify any indications of fraud, we re-evaluate our fraud risk assessment and its impact on our
audit procedures.

Infineum Holdings B.V. - 5U4QEQ2XZEMR-578586930-25
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Audit approach going coneern

As disclosed in section ‘Going concern’ on page 15 of the financial statements, the board of directors

performed their assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for at least twelve

months from the date of preparation of the financial statements and has not identified events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern

(hereafter: going-concern risks). Our procedures to evaluate the board of directors’ going-concern

assessment included, amongst others:

. considering whether the board of directors identified events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern (hereafter:
going-concern risks);

. considering whether the board of directors’ going-concern assessment includes all relevant
information of which we are aware as a result of our audit by inquiring with the board of
directors regarding the board of directers’ most important assumptions underlying its going-
concern assessment. Amongst others, the board of directors took into consideration the
participation in treasury agreements with its shareholders, giving it access to sufficient liquid
resources for the foreseeable future;

. performing inquiries of the board of directors as to its knowledge of going-concern risks beyond
the period of the board of directors’ assessment.

We concluded that the board of directors’ use of the going-concern basis of accounting is appropriate,
and based on the audit evidence obtained, that no material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Report on the other information included in the annual
Jinancial report

The annual financial report contains other information. This includes all information in the annual
financial report in addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Based on the procedures performed as set out below, we conclude that the other information:

- is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; and

. contains all the information regarding the directors’ report and the other information that is
required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and the understanding cbtained in our
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information
contains material misstatements.

By performing our procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of such procedures was substantially less than the scope
of those procedures performed in our audit of the financial statements.

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the
directors’ report and the other information in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code.

Infineum Holdings B.V. - 5U4QEQ2XZEMR-578586930-25
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Responsihilities for the financial statements und the audit

Responsibilities aof the board of directors
The board of directors is responsible for:

. the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; and for

. such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting
framework mentioned, the board of directors should prepare the financial statements using the going-
concern basis of accounting unless the board of directors either intends te liquidate the Company or to
cease operations or has no realistie alternative but to do so. The board of directors should disclose in
the financial statements any event and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities for the audil of the financial statemenls

Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit engagement in a manner that allows us to oblain
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion. Our objectives are to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high but not absolute level of assurance, which makes it possible that we
may not detect all material misstatements. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error, They are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the
effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

A more detailed description of our responsibilities is set out in the appendix to our report.

Rotterdam, 10 August 2023
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.

Original has been signed by V.J.C. Valckx RA EMoC
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the finuncial statements
2022 of Infineum Holdings B.V.

In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report, we have further set out in this appendix our
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements and explained what an audit involves,

The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial stutements
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout
the audit in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements, and independence
requirements. Our audit consisted, among other things of the following:

. Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the intentional override of internal control.

. Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

. Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors.
. Concluding on the appropriateness of the board of directors’ use of the going-concern basis of

accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events and/or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report
and are made in the context of our opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluating the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Considering our ultimate responsibility for the opinion on the consolidated financial statements, we
are responsible for the direction, supervision, and performance of the group audit. In this context, we
have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures for components of the Group to ensure
that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
Determining factors are the geographic structure of the Group, the significance and/or risk profile of
group entities or activities, the accounting processes and contrels, and the industry in which the Group
operates. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review of financial information
or specific balances was considered necessary.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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